FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
12/15/2022 2:21 PM
NO. 101547-0

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/15/2022
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

\_\_\_\_\_

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON Court of Appeals Case No. 55882-3-II

### IN RE THE DISSOLUTION OF APOGEE CAPITAL LLC

CYNTHIA A. EDWARDS
Respondent
v.
SCOTT J. EDWARDS
Petitioner

### PETITION FOR REVIEW

SMITH ALLING, P.S.

C. Tyler Shillito, WSBA #36774 Gabriel Hinman, WSBA #54950 1501 Dock Street Tacoma, WA 98402 Telephone: (253) 627-1091 Email: tyler@smithalling.com

gabe@smithalling.com

Attorneys for Petitioner, Scott Edwards

# **

## I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Petitioner is Scott Edwards ("Scott" or "Petitioner"), a member and manager of Apogee Capital, LLC ("Apogee"). Apogee was judicially dissolved and placed under the control of general receiver Resource Transition Consultants, LLC ("RTC") on petition of Respondent Cynthia Edwards ("Cindi" or "Respondent"), Scott's sister.

## II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals issued an opinion affirming the Superior Court on July 19, 2022. Case No. 55882-3-II Slip Op. It then granted in part Petitioner's motion for reconsideration on November 15, 2022, modifying the language of its July 19 decision but still affirming the Superior Court in full. A copy of the November 15, 2022, decision in case number 55882-3-II is attached to this petition as Appendix A.

#### III. INTRODUCTION

This case concerns the two pure questions of law: one of statutory interpretation and one of contract interpretation. The Court of Appeals erred as to both.

First, the Court of Appeals omitted the word "except" from its interpretation of RCW 7.60.025(1), dramatically expanding the Superior Court's authority to appoint a general receiver over private businesses inconsistent with over a century of precedent. A copy of RCW 7.60.025 is attached to this Petition as Appendix B. Second, the Court of Appeals refused to apply the arbitration clause from Apogee's Operating Agreement to a dispute between Apogee's two members. Clerks Papers (CP) at 187.

In putting these two erroneous rulings together, the Court of Appeals got the analysis exactly backwards. Because arbitration of the parties' dispute (not to mention monetary damages) was available as an alternative remedy, the court should have found that appointment of a receiver was

inappropriate. RCW 7.60.025(1) (requiring a superior court to determine that other remedies are unavailable before appointing a receiver). Instead, the court ruled that, *because* Cindi sought appointment of a receiver, the case could not be arbitrated. Its decision elevated the extraordinary remedy of receivership over Washington's general policy favoring arbitration.

This Court should accept review to correct the Court of Appeals' errors and provide guidance on the proper standard for when appointment of a receiver over a private business is appropriate under RCW 7.60.025(1)—an issue on which contrary decisions now exist from the Courts of Appeals.

### IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether RCW 7.60.025(1) requires the Superior Court to consider whether "appointment of a receiver is reasonably necessary and that other available remedies either are not available or are inadequate" before appointing a receiver pursuant to RCW 7.60.025(1)(t), (u), and (nn).

2. Whether an LLC Agreement's requirement that "[a]ny legal dispute between or among Members and/or Manager(s) may, at the sole option of the Manager(s), be submitted to binding arbitration" encompasses a dispute between the LLC's two members where one seeks LLC dissolution on the basis that the other improperly liquidated LLC assets.

## V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## A. Apogee Background and Dispute Origins

Scott and Cindi each received a 33% share of Apogee Capital, LLC as gifts from their parents in December 2012. CP at 226. Scott has acted as Apogee's sole manager since 2012. *Id.* at 177, 225-26. Apogee purchased the 33% share belonging to their third sibling (Jeffrey Edwards) in 2016, leaving Scott and Cindi each owning 50% of the company. *Id.* at 226.

Around 2017, Cindi requested that Scott purchase her Apogee interest as well, cashing her out and allowing Scott to take full possession of the business. *Id.* at 227. After years of stalled negotiations, Scott notified Cindi that, unless she

objected, he would purchase Apogee's real estate holdings through his other business entities for their appraised fair market value and provide Cindi with her 50% share of the proceeds. *Id.* at 193-98, 521. Before executing these sales, Scott offered Cindi either side of the transaction: she could buy his Apogee interest or he would buy her Apogee interest—either way, Scott or Cindi would purchase the real estate and use the proceeds to buy the other's Apogee interest. *Id.* at 193-98, 521, 628-29. When Cindi did not respond, Scott carried out the sales and forwarded payment to Cindi. *Id.* at 39-48, 99-101, 111-13.

# B. <u>Cindi Moved to Dissolve Apogee and Appoint a</u> <u>General Receiver</u>

After Scott completed the sales, Cindi filed a petition to dissolve Apogee. *Id.* at 1. She argued that Scott's conduct had "created deadlocks and disputes on business management matters and made the effective operation of the LLC impossible," necessitating dissolution. *Id.* Cindi's petition also requested appointment of a receiver to "continue the operations of the

Company without the interference of Scott Edwards" and "pursue assets wrongly diverted from Apogee by Scott Edwards." *Id.* at 1-2. Nowhere in the petition, nor anywhere in Cindi's briefing or argument before the Superior Court, did Cindi ever argue or show that appointment of a receiver was "reasonably necessary" or that "other available remedies [were] not available or [were] inadequate." *See* RCW 7.60.025(1); CP at 1-18, 232-37, 268-80, 592-97, 676-87.

The Superior Court commissioner rejected Cindi's petition in full. *Id.* at 266. However, the Superior Court revised the commissioner's order and granted Cindi's petition on April 30, 2021. *Id.* at 599-601. It ruled that "cause exists to order the judicial dissolution of Apogee Capital LLC" and that "cause exists pursuant to RCW 7.60.025(1), including provisions (t), (u), and (nn) for appointment of a general receiver." *Id.* at 601. The court never considered whether a receiver was "reasonably necessary" or the possibility of any "other available remedies."

RCW 7.60.025(1); CP at 601; see Verbatim Report of Proceedings ("VRP") (Apr. 30, 2021) at 29-31.

Scott appealed this decision. He argued to the Court of Appeals that the Superior Court had erred because it "did not even consider whether alternative legal remedies were available or adequate to address [Cindi's] concerns." Appellant's Opening Br. at 22. The Court of Appeals did not disagree with Scott on the facts, but on the law. It ruled that, because "the superior court appointed a receiver to aid the dissolution of Apogee under RCW 7.60.025(1)(t), (u), and (nn)" . . . "an inquiry [into whether the appointment of a receiver is reasonably necessary or if available remedies are inadequate] was not required here." Court of Appeals Opinion at 24-25. Thus, it affirmed the Superior Court's decision to appoint RTC as general receiver over Apogee and held that the Superior Court had not erred by failing to inquire into the necessity of a receiver or whether other remedies were available. Id. at 25.

# C. Scott Requested That the Dispute be Submitted to Binding Arbitration, Pursuant to the Apogee Operating Agreement

Scott argued before the Superior Court that Cindi's petition should be dismissed because she had failed to comply with a provision of Apogee's Operating Agreement. CP at 588-89. Under that agreement, "Any legal dispute between or among Members and/or Manager(s) may, at the sole option of the Manager(s), be submitted to binding arbitration by any customary and reasonable method of arbitration then practiced in Pierce County, Washington." *Id.* at 187.

The Superior Court commissioner initially ruled that it lacked authority to rule on the applicability of the arbitration agreement and "reserved" on the issue. *Id.* at 267. On Cindi's motion to revise, the Superior Court ruled that "the judicial dissolution and appointment of a general receiver are not subject to the binding arbitration provisions of the Operating Agreement or otherwise required by law." *Id.* at 601. It elaborated in its oral ruling that this was because "it would be inequitable to enforce

the mandatory arbitration clause of the operating agreement." VRP (Apr. 30, 2021) at 31.

Scott assigned error to the Superior Court's arbitration ruling on appeal. Appellant's Opening Br. at 2. In its decision affirming the Superior Court, the court of appeals ruled that "the issue of dissolution is not a legal dispute 'between or among Members and/or Manager(s)," but rather "a proceeding with respect to the continuing existence of the private entity at issue." Court of Appeals Opinion at 13. It held the same as to Cindi's request for appointment of a receiver. *Id.* at 15.

### VI. ARGUMENT

Scott seeks this Court's review of the two issues raised above: (1) whether RCW 7.60.025(1) required the Superior Court to consider necessity and other available remedies before appointing a receiver and (2) whether the arbitration clause in Apogee's operating agreement required arbitration of the dispute between the parties.

RAP 13.4(b) provides this Court's standards for acceptance of petitions for review. Three of the four grounds for acceptance of review are met in this case.

First, "the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court" under RAP 13.4(b)(1), as well as "in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals" under RAP 13.4(b)(2). The Court of Appeals' decision is flatly contrary to the plain words of RCW 7.60.025(1) and over a century of precedent from every Court ruling on whether to appoint a receiver.

Second, the decision of the Court of Appeals is also in conflict with multiple Court of Appeals decisions concerning the scope of LLC agreement arbitration clauses and the authority of an arbitrator to order extraordinary equitable relief.

Finally, the Court of Appeals' erroneous rulings present questions "of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(4). A definitive

ruling from this Court would provide valuable guidance to the lower courts on both these questions of law.

# A. The Court of Appeals Read the Word "Except" out of RCW 7.60.025 to Interpret the Statute Inconsistently with Binding Precedent

The Court of Appeals ruling that *no inquiry* into "whether the appointment of a receiver is reasonably necessary or if available remedies are inadequate" is required except "in three specific cases" listed in RCW 7.60.025(1) is flatly inconsistent with the text of the statute and over a century of binding precedent. The statute states that "except in" three specific cases, "a receiver shall be appointed only if the court additionally determines that the appointment of a receiver is reasonably necessary and that other available remedies either are not available or are inadequate." RCW 7.60.025(1). Flipping this language entirely on its head, the Court of Appeals ruled that the inquiry is required *only in the three exempted cases*. This ruling vastly expands the Superior Court's power to appoint receivers in numerous situations that could be remedied through other means where a petitioner offers only a bare statutory pretext. The court's ruling requires correction from this Court.

"The appointment of a receiver is an extraordinary remedy and is justified only under extraordinary circumstances." Gahagan v. Wisner, 139 Wash. 664, 667, 247 P. 965 (1926). "A receivership is only a means to reach some legitimate end sought through the exercise of the power of a court of equity. It is not an end in itself." Gordon v. Washington, 295 U.S. 30, 37, 55 S. Ct. 584, 79 L. Ed. 1282 (1935); see also Bergman Clay Mfg. Co. v. Bergman, 73 Wash. 144, 146-47, 131 P. 485 (1913) ("The power to appoint a receiver is a delicate one, and should always be exercised with caution."); Secord v. Wheeler Gold Mining Co., 53 Wash. 620, 624-25, 102 P. 654 (1909) ("[A] corporation will be placed in the hands of a receiver for the misconduct of its officers or directors only when necessary to preserve the property or rights of creditors or stockholders. The mere misconduct of officers of a corporation is not sufficient ground for the appointment of a receiver."). "Mistakes, inadvertence, or bad policy, if honestly pursued, will not warrant the appointment of a receiver." *Secord*, 53 Wash. at 625.

The Washington legislature codified the Superior Court's equitable receivership powers in 2004 to update Washington's then-existing receivership statutes "originally enacted by the Territorial Legislature over 150 years" before. SSB 6189 Final Bill Report (2004) at 1; see LAWS OF 2004, ch. 165. When it did so, it exhaustively listed 40 specific circumstances where a receiver "may be appointed." RCW 7.60.025(1). The list includes such situations as when a "party is determined to have a probable right to or interest in property that is a subject of the action and in the possession of an adverse party," "[a]fter judgment, in order to give effect to the judgment," and concludes with a catch-all for "such other cases as may be provided for by law, or when, in the discretion of the court, it may be necessary to secure ample justice to the parties." RCW 7.60.025(1)(a), (c), (nn). Thus, if the Court of Appeals is correct that meeting one of the 40 RCW 7.60.025(1) subsections is all that is required for appointment of a receiver, appointment is permissible and not subject to reversal in every case where the parties dispute their respective property rights, every case in which a judgment has issued, and every case within the exercise of the Superior Court's discretion.

But the legislature included a critically important limiting factor on the Superior Court's use of this "extraordinary remedy." *Gahagan*, 139 Wash. at 667. That limiting factor is at the heart of this case. It reads in full:

A receiver may be appointed by the superior court of this state in the following instances, <u>but except</u> in any case in which a receiver's appointment is expressly required by statute, or any case in which a receiver's appointment is sought by a state agent whose authority to seek the appointment of a receiver is expressly conferred by statute, or any case in which a receiver's appointment with respect to real property is sought under (b)(ii) of this subsection, a receiver shall be appointed <u>only if</u> the court additionally determines that the appointment of a receiver is reasonably necessary and that other available remedies either are not available or are inadequate.

RCW 7.60.025(1) (emphasis added).

Before proceeding with the 40 sets of circumstances where receivers may be appropriate, the statute demands that, for each of them *with three specific exceptions*, that the Superior Court must "determine[]" that the receiver is "reasonably necessary and that other available remedies either are not available or are inadequate." *Id.* It did not do so in this case. CP at 599-601; VRP (Apr. 30, 2021) at 29-31 (omitting any discussion of the necessity of a receiver or other available remedies).

But the Court of Appeals interpreted this statute exactly backwards. It ruled that the language quoted above requires this additional inquiry, not *except* in the three specific cases, but *only in* the three listed specific cases. App'x A at 24-25. The Court held:

Based on the plain language of RCW 7.60.025(1), the superior court must additionally ask whether the appointment of a receiver is reasonably necessary or if available remedies are inadequate *in three specific cases:* where a statute requires a receiver, a state agent seeks a receiver, or a party seeks a receivership with respect to real property under RCW 7.60.025(1)(b)(ii). But none of those

circumstances apply here. . . . Therefore, such an inquiry was not required here.

# *Id.* (emphasis added)

"The meaning of a statute is a question of law reviewed de novo." Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, LLC, 146 Wn.2d 1, 9, 43 P.3d 4 (2002). "The court's fundamental objective is to ascertain and carry out the legislature's intent, and if the statute's meaning is plain on its face, then the court must give effect to that plain meaning as an expression of legislative intent." Id. "Rules of statutory construction provide that a statute which is clear on its face is not subject to judicial interpretation." Marquis v. City of Spokane, 130 Wn.2d 97, 107, 922 P.2d 43 (1996); see also Fraternal Order of Eagles, Tenino Aerie No. 564 v. Grand Aerie of Fraternal Order of Eagles, 148 Wn.2d 224, 239, 59 P.3d 655 (2002) ("An unambiguous statute is not subject to judicial construction."). The Court of Appeals' interpretation of RCW 7.60.025(1) flies in the face of the legislature's clear intent.

The legislature's use of the word "except" is not ambiguous and clearly requires an inquiry in all "except" the three named cases. The Court of Appeals' analysis does not explain, acknowledge, or account for the legislature's use of "except" in any way. It simply omits that critical word from the statute, entirely reversing the legislature's meaning.

No party to this matter ever proposed the reading of the statute that the Court of Appeals selected. *See generally* Resp't's Opening Br. at 34-38 (arguing that appointment of RTC was "reasonably necessary" and the Superior Court had no other available options). Even in responding to Scott's Motion for Reconsideration before the court of appeals, Cindi did not *defend* its statutory interpretation, but argued that "Revision of the Court's Ruling . . . Would Not Change the Court's Holding." Answer to Appellant's Mot. for Reconsideration at 1.1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Cindi did allege that the "Court's reading of the statute is a rational one" because of "the additional determination language" in the statute. Answer to Appellant's Mot. for

An inquiry into reasonable necessity and other available remedies does not even make sense in the context of the three listed scenarios. If a receiver "is expressly required by statute," as under the first case, a further inquiry into whether other remedies are unavailable accomplishes little—appointment is required regardless. RCW 7.60.025(1); see Glaubach v. Regence BlueShield, 149 Wn.2d 827, 833, 74 P.3d 115 (2003) ("We avoid readings of statutes that result in unlikely, absurd, or strained consequences."). Another of the "three specific cases" references RCW 7.60.025(1)(b)(ii), where appointment is "by agreement or is reasonably necessary" for a specific purpose. Thus, the statute does not require a finding of "reasonable necessity" where the receivership independently particular basis that requirement or the parties are in agreement. Reversing the terms

Reconsideration at 2. She did not explain how the court's reading accounts for the word "except."

of the statute to *only* require a finding of reasonable necessity in such a situation creates absurdity.

The Court of Appeals' decision was not only flatly inconsistent with the plain statutory language, it was also inconsistent with binding precedent from this Court and with numerous published opinions from the Court of Appeals. See RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2). This Court has clearly held as recently as 2016 that "It is well established that a receiver should not be appointed if there is any other adequate remedy." Jordan v. Nationstar Mortgage, LLC, 185 Wn.2d 876, 893, 374 P.3d 1195 (2016) (quoting King County Dep't of Comm. & Human Servs. v. Nw. Defenders Ass'n, 118 Wn. App. 117, 126, 75 P.3d 583 (2003)). Though the current version of the statute dates to 2004, the requirement that a receiver is reasonably necessary and other remedies unavailable goes back over a century. See, e.g., Bergman Clay Mfg. Co., 73 Wash. at 147 ("[A] receiver should not be appointed if there is any other adequate remedy."); Secord, 53 Wash. at 624 ("It is the rule that courts of equity will not, at the suit of a stockholder, resort to the extreme remedy of taking the property out of the hands of the managers elected by the stockholders, except as a last resort, and when considered to be absolutely necessary for the preservation of the trust fund.").<sup>2</sup>

Court of Appeals cases reiterating this requirement are legion. *See Bero v. Name Intelligence, Inc.*, 195 Wn. App. 170, 175, 381 P.3d 71 (2016) ("*Except* in certain narrow, inapplicable circumstances, the trial court may appoint a receiver only when it finds that a receivership is 'reasonably necessary and that other available remedies either are not available or are inadequate."

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