FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/17/2023 3:44 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

#### NO. 101547-0

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON COURT OF APPEALS CASE NO. 55882-3-II

#### IN RE THE DISSOLUTION OF APOGEE CAPITAL LLC

CINDI A. EDWARDS, Respondent,

v.

SCOTT J. EDWARDS, Petitioner.

## RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Neil A. Dial, WSBA No. 29599 Attorneys for Respondent Cindi A. Edwards

## **EISENHOWER CARLSON PLLC**

909 A Street, Suite 600 Tacoma, WA 98402 Telephone: (253) 572-4500 E-Mail: NDial@Eisenhowerlaw.com

# **

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

#### **IV. ARGUMENT**

RAP 13.4(b) sets forth the narrow circumstances upon which the Supreme Court will accept a petition for discretionary review, namely: "(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." Even if one or more bases under RAP 13.4(b) is present, the Supreme Court still has discretion on whether to accept review or not. Scott argues that this case qualifies for discretionary review based on the grounds set forth in RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) and (4).

Contrary to Scott's Petition, the Court of Appeals' unpublished Opinion does not create a conflict of law and does

Denying in Part Reconsideration of Partial Summary Judgment Regarding Fiduciary Duties) (filed Dec. 2, 2022). This modification did not impact the Court's finding that Scott breached his fiduciary duties and committed other statutory violations in managing Apogee as a matter of law.

not address an issue of substantial public interest that affects individuals beyond the parties in the case. Discretionary review is, therefore, unjustified.

## A. The Court of Appeals' Holding that Judicial Dissolution of Apogee was Outside of the Operating Agreement's Arbitration Clause does not Conflict with Binding Precedent.

Scott argues that the Court of Appeals' Opinion is "in conflict with multiple Court of Appeals decisions concerning the scope of LLC agreement arbitration clauses and the authority of an arbitrator to order extraordinary equitable relief." Petition at 10. Specifically, Scott contends that the Opinion is inconsistent with Division I of the Court of Appeals' decisions in *Berman v. Tierra Real Estate Group, LLC,* 23 Wn. App. 2d 387, 515 P.3d 1004 (2022) and *Verbeek Props., LLC v. GreenCo Envtl., Inc.* 159 Wn. App. 82, 246 P.3d 205 (2010). These contentions are unsupported.

## 1. The Opinion is Not Inconsistent with <u>Berman v.</u> <u>Tierra Real Estate Group, LLC</u>.

At the outset, Division I's ruling in *Berman* is far narrower than Petitioner portrays to this Court. *Berman* did not hold that -10a plaintiff's cause of action for dissolution was arbitrable and, in fact, made <u>no</u> rulings with respect to the arbitrability of a petition for judicial dissolution. Instead, *Berman* held that plaintiff's individual and derivative claims against the entities at issue, specifically claims for breach of fiduciary duty and civil conspiracy, fell within both entities' arbitration clauses. *See Berman*, 23 Wn. App. 2d at 398 ("The [derivative] claims here at issue are the same as those discussed in the previous section: breach of fiduciary duty and civil conspiracy based on the individual appellants' alleged wrongdoing. *These claims* clearly fall within the very broad language of the agreement ('arising under, out of, in connection with or in relation to this Agreement')") (emphasis added). *Berman* is far more limited and tailored to the specific circumstances of that case.

In *Berman*, a plaintiff brought causes of action against entities of which he was a minority owner and their managers, alleging civil liability for wrongdoing related to corporate activities. The narrow holdings in *Berman* are <u>not</u> inconsistent with the Opinion in this case. Here, Cindi petitioned the court for judicial dissolution of Apogee and appointment of a receiver; however, unlike in *Berman*, she did not file any affirmative causes of action for damages against Scott or his entities. The analysis in *Berman* is, therefore, not applicable to the facts of this case.

Further, in *Berman*, the language of the arbitration was broad. *See Berman*, 23 Wn. App. 2d at 398. In contrast, the Court of Appeals held that the issue of corporate dissolution "is not a legal dispute 'between or among Members and/or Manager(s)'" for purposes of the Apogee arbitration clause here. Opinion at 13. The Court concluded that dissolution "is a proceeding with respect to the continuing existence of the private entity at issue." *Id.* (citing RCW 25.15.265, .274). The Court similarly concluded that the appointment of a receiver cannot be a "dispute between or among Members and/or Manager(s)" of Apogee because a receivership is a remedy, not a cause of action. Opinion at 15 (citing *Bero v. Name Intelligence, Inc.*, 195 Wn. App. 170, 176, 381 P.3d 71 (2016) (internal citation omitted)). The Court of Appeals correctly held here that Apogee's arbitration clause, which is not the broad clause that was present in *Berman*, did not bar Cindi from seeking judicial dissolution and appointment of a receiver in the Superior Court.

The Court of Appeals was also correct to reject Scott's argument that the reasons underlying Cindi's petition for dissolution (*i.e.*, allegations that Scott had breached his fiduciary duties as manager of Apogee by, among other things, unilaterally attempting to buyout Cindi without her consent, engaging in selfdealing and failing to fully and completely account for Apogee's assets) turned the issue of whether dissolution was proper into an arbitrable "dispute" under the Operating Agreement. It was unnecessary to resolve the merits of those issues prior to finding that the arbitration clause does not apply to a judicial dissolution or receivership action. See Heights at Issaquah Ridge Owners Ass'n v. Burton Landscape Grp., Inc., 148 Wn. App. 400, 403, 200 P.3d 254 (2009) ("Courts resolve the threshold legal question of arbitrability of the dispute by examining the arbitration agreement without inquiry into the merits of the dispute.").

The Court of Appeals declined to read the arbitration clause in a manner inconsistent with the Operating Agreement's provision regarding corporate dissolution (§ 7.1), which expressly provides that the "entry of a decree of judicial dissolution pursuant to the Act" is an event triggering dissolution. *See* CP 177-87; Opinion at 15 ("Because Scott's argument would nullify article 7.1(b), we reject Scott's arguments."). In considering the intention of §7.1(b), the Court of Appeals followed a well-established canon of contractual interpretation. *See GMAC v. Everett Chevrolet, Inc.*, 179 Wn. App. 126, 140, 317 P.3d 1074 (2014) ("An interpretation of a writing which gives effect to all of its provisions is favored over one which renders some of the language meaningless or ineffective.") (internal citation omitted).

In sum, the Court of Appeals' determination that Cindi's petition for judicial dissolution was not subject to arbitration under Apogee's operating agreement was justified under Washington law, is consistent with §7.1 of the Operating Agreement, and is not in conflict with the *Berman* case.<sup>4</sup>

# 2. The Opinion is Also Not Inconsistent with <u>Verbeek Props., LLC v. GreenCo Envtl., Inc.</u>

On its face, the Court of Appeals' Opinion does not conflict with the holding in *Verbeek*. That case simply held that nothing in RCW 7.24.010 prevents an arbitrator from determining in an arbitration award that declaratory relief is an appropriate remedy, which can then be confirmed by a court. *Verbeek*, 159 Wn. App. at 92. Arbitrators have the authority to consider prayers for declaratory relief under RCW 7.24.010 and RCW 7.04A.210(3). *Id*. But, contrary to the Petition, there was <u>no</u> ruling in the *Verbeek* case with respect to the arbitrability of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Court of Appeals' decision is consistent with Division I's decision in *JC Aviation Investments*, a case which Scott cites in support of his Petition. *See* Petition at 27, citing *JC Aviation Investments, LLC v. Hytech Power, LLC*, Case No. 81539-3-I, 16 Wn. App. 2d 1051, 2021 WL 778043 (Mar. 1, 2021) at \*5 (n. 25). As noted in Scott's Petition, the Court of Appeals has interpreted an LLC agreement's arbitration clause to exclude an action for judicial dissolution of the company. *Id.* The Court in *JC Aviation Investments* made clear that a determination of whether judicial dissolution is appropriate under RCW 25.15.274 "does not require resolving a dispute under the LLC agreement" where the facts demonstrate it is not "reasonably practicable" for a company to continue operating under its LLC agreement. *Id.* 

petitions for dissolution or an arbitrator's authority to enter a decree of judicial dissolution.

Scott argues that the Court of Appeals erred in failing to extend the reasoning in *Verbeek* to this case. But this is not a viable reason under RAP 13.4(b) to warrant discretionary review. Moreover, the Court of Appeals properly distinguished Verbeek on the grounds that RCW 7.24.010 places no limits on an arbitration clause's authority to provide for the award of declaratory relief, while, in contrast, RCW 25.15.018(3)(k) expressly precludes LLC agreements from varying a court's discretionary power to order dissolution. Because the interpretation of the arbitration clause Scott advocated would have violated RCW 25.15.018(3)(k), the Court of Appeals found Scott's reliance on Verbeek unwarranted and unpersuasive (Opinion at 14 (n. 6)); the Court of Appeals was under no obligation to extend Verbeek's logic to an entirely different statutory scheme and factual circumstance.

In his Petition, Scott also suggests that the Court erred in holding that arbitrators do not have authority over a judicially appointed receiver. Petition at 25-27. There is no binding decision in Washington holding that an arbitrator has the authority to appoint or oversee a receiver. Instead, the Court of Appeals was justified in holding the superior court has exclusive jurisdiction over such matters under RCW 7.60.005(10) and RCW 7.60.055(1). Opinion at 16 ("Because a receiver is defined as a person appointed by the superior court, and because the court maintains exclusive authority over the receiver, an arbitrator could not appoint or oversee a general receiver."). Given the clear language of the receivership statute, the Court of Appeals correctly rejected Scott's argument that the Uniform Arbitration Act, chapter 7.04A RCW, supersedes chapter 7.60 RCW and gives an arbitrator the authority to appoint and oversee a receiver.

In short, there is simply no legitimate reason to grant discretionary review based on an alleged conflict with *Verbeek*. That case is not in conflict with the Opinion below.

# B. Revision of the Court of Appeals' Interpretation of RCW 7.60.025(1) is Unnecessary.

In its Opinion, the Court of Appeals held that RCW 7.60.025(1) requires a judicial finding of reasonable -17necessity and inadequacy of other remedies in three specific circumstances, namely "where a statute requires a receiver, a state agent seeks a receiver, or a party seeks a receivership with respect to real property under RCW 7.60.025(1)(b)(ii)." Opinion 24-25. Because none of those circumstances are present in this case, the Court of Appeals stated that such findings were not required. *Id.* at 25. Regardless, the Court found that the Superior Court made such findings when it "considered the equitable circumstances in dissolving Apogee and appointing a receiver based on the record before it" and concluded that the Superior Court did not abuse its discretion in appointing a general receiver. *Id.* 

Scott asked the Court to reconsider its ruling on the same legal basis upon which his current Petition is based; in fact, he specifically argued that the Court of Appeals misinterpreted the standard for appointment of a receiver. *See* Appellant's Mot. for Reconsideration (Aug. 5, 2021). The Court of Appeals, however, declined to amend its Opinion on those grounds. *See* Opinion at 1.

Given the plain language of the statute, the Court of Appeals' interpretation was reasonable. The statute states that a receiver "may be appointed by the superior court of this state in the following instances..." then lists multiple instances in which superior court may appoint а general receiver. а RCW 7.60.025(1)(a)-(nn). The statute includes a qualifying phrase "but except in any case in which a receiver's appointment is expressly required by statute, or any case in which a receiver's appointment is sought by a state agent whose authority to seek the appointment of a receiver is expressly conferred by statute, or any case in which a receiver's appointment with respect to real property is sought under (b)(ii) of this subsection, a receiver shall be appointed only if the court additionally determines that the appointment of a receiver is reasonably necessary and that other available remedies either are not available or are inadequate." Id. (emphasis added). Given that the additional language immediately follows the three specific excepted instances, the Court's reading of the statute – that a determination of reasonable necessity and inadequacy of other remedies is

required only in those three circumstances – is the more rationale reading of the language. If each statutory basis required a specific finding of reasonable necessity, the legislature would not have had to repeat itself in RCW 7.60.025(1)(u) and (nn), wherein it authorized a court to appoint a receiver if "reasonably necessary" to protect property or "reasonably necessary" to secure ample justice.

Scott argues that Court of Appeals' statutory interpretation would result in absurd consequences. Petition at 18. However, this Court has made clear that the absurd results canon "must be applied sparingly" because "by its terms, [it] refuses to give effect to words the legislature has written" and "necessarily results in a court disregarding an otherwise plain meaning...." *Five Corners Family Farmers v. State*, 173 Wn.2d 296, 311, 268 P.3d 892 (2011). The Unpublished Opinion of the Court of Appeals gave due effect to the words and plain language of the statute.

Scott also argues that the Opinion diverges from Division I's interpretation of RCW 7.60.025(1) as articulated in *Bero v*. *Name Intelligence, Inc.*, 195 Wn. App. 170, 381 P.3d 71 (2016), *Chengdu Gaishi Electronics, Ltd. v. G.A.E.M.S., Inc.*, 11 Wn. App. 2d 617, 454 P.3d 891 (2019) and *King County Dep't of Comm. & Human Servs. v. Nw Defenders Ass'n*, 118 Wn. App. 117, 75 P.3d 583 (2003). Petition at 18-19. However, only *Nw Defenders* is a case where the appointment of a receivership was being challenged<sup>5</sup> and in that case the Court explicitly upheld the appointment of a receivership because, like here, one of the express statutory basis for appointing a receiver had been shown. *See Nw. Defs. Ass'n*, 118 Wn. App. at 123 (affirming the order appointing the receiver where the appointment was "fully authorized" by two of the statutory grounds). Even if these cases were "in conflict" with the Court of Appeals' Opinion below, the Court should not accept review.

*First*, the Opinion is *unpublished* and carries no precedential value under General Rule 14.1. It cannot be cited as binding authority, and will only be given "such persuasive

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In *Bero*, only the court's discretion to terminate a receivership was at issue, while in *Chengdu Gaishi Electronics* the trial court declined to appoint a receiver.

value as the court deems appropriate." GR 14.1(a). Therefore, it is not necessary to correct any perceived conflict.

Moreover, even if Scott's interpretation is correct, the orders, together with the oral explanations of the trial court, satisfy RCW 7.60.025(1), as is clear that the trial court acted well within the discretion afforded by the receivership statute.

More specifically, in its April 30, 2021 Order Granting Petitioner's Motion for Revision of Commissioner's Order, the trial court expressly determined that "cause exists pursuant to RCW 7.60.025(1), including provisions (t), (u) and (nn) for appointment of a general receiver" thereby incorporating the entire statutory standard in its order. CP 601. Similarly, in its Order for Appointment of General Receiver, the trial court explained that it was "fully advised of the facts" and found that "grounds exist for appointment of a general receiver in accordance with RCW 7.60.025(1)(i), (t), (u) and (nn) to take charge over all of the assets of Apogee, and to do such acts as are required to protect and preserve the business, assets, and the income stream therefrom..." CP 604-605. The specific citation to RCW 7.60.025(1)(u) and (nn) means the trial court determined a receiver was "reasonably necessary," as that language is in the specific statutory provisions cited. Like in *Nw. Defs. Ass'n*, the trial court acted well within its discretion because several of the statutory reasons warranting the appointment had been shown.

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